No. 65,515 Fifth District Court of Appeal No. 84-780

IN RE: THE MATTER OF THE ADOPTION OF: HYT, a minor, DANIEL S. WALLACE, Attorney-Ad-Litem for HYT, a minor,

Petitioners,

v.

THE HONORABLE C. MCFERRIN SMITH, III, etc., et al.,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

DANIEL S. WALLACE, ESQUIRE 408 North Wild Olive Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32018 904/252-1133 Petitioner

##

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the appendix of this brief will be by use of the letter "A" followed by the page in the appendix.

## QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the legislative mandate [<u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.162(1)] of confidentiality in adoption proceedings violates the constitutional right of free speech?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Before trial, petitioner moved the trial court to protect the confidentiality of this adoption proceeding pursuant to <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §§63.022(j) and 63.162. (A-1) The trial court granted petitioner's motion and on February 27, 1984 entered an Order protecting the confidentiality of the court documents and proceedings. (A-2)

On May 29, 1984, this cause came before the court for trial. The petitioner requested enforcement of the February 27, 1984 Order. After giving notice to the media, the trial court held a hearing. (A-3-20) Subsequently, the trial court entered an Order opening the proceedings to the press and public. (A-21-22)

It appearing to the trial court that the issue of the constitutionality of <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.162(1) was one of first impression, petitioner's request for a temporary stay of the trial was granted for the balance of the day of May 29, 1984 in order to allow petitioner time to seek review by the Fifth District Court of Appeal. (A-16-19)

By Order dated May 30, 1984 (A-23), the Fifth District Court of Appeal granted petitioner's Motion to Expedite Consideration of Cause (A-36-38) and Emergency Petition for Stay Writ. (A-39-42) Simultaneously, said

-3-

Court issued an order for the respondents to show cause why petitioner's Petition for Writ of Certiorari/Mandamus (A-43-47) should not be granted. (A-23)

On June 26, 1984, after receiving the briefs of parties, the Fifth District Court of Appeal certified the issue of the constitutionality of <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.162 to the Supreme Court of Florida. (A-24-25)

By Order of July 2, 1984, this Honorable Court accepted jurisdiction, set oral argument and established an expedited briefing schedule.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This matter arose at the commencement of a trial involving two sets of grandparents, both seeking the adoption of a minor, HYT, whose parents had been killed in an aircraft accident approximately ten years ago.

One newspaper, the Respondent, News-Journal Corporation, had written nine major stories about the pre-trial events, all of which were accepted for identification by the trial court. (A-26-35)

As the trial was about to commence, petitioner, as attorney-ad-litem for HYT, requested enforcement of the trial court's previous order closing the proceedings to the press and public pursuant to Florida Statutes, Section 63.162(1). That statute reads in pertinent part:

"Notwithstanding any other law concerning public hearings and records:

(1) All hearings held in proceedings under this act shall be held in closed court without admittance of any person other than essential officers of the court, the parties, witnesses, counsel, persons who have not consented to the adoption and are required to consent, and representatives of the agencies who are present to perform their official duties."

-5-

The trial court, the Honorable C. McFerrin Smith, III, presiding, allowed members of the media to be heard on the subject of closure. (A-3-20) The News-Journal Corporation objected to the closure, and both sets of grandparents agreed in open court to permit the press to have access to the trial proceedings. (A-11-13)

After having considered argument of counsel, the trial court held that Section 63.162(1) was unconstitutional essentially because of overbreadth, in that there were no exceptions permitted and no methodology set out in the statute which would enable the trial judge to balance the policies sought to be protected by the statute, and the constitutional right of freedom of the press. (A-21-22)

#### ARGUMENT SUMMARY

Since this is an adoption proceeding, the entire purpose of this action is to promote the child's best interests. The public policy of our State, as determined by our legislature, provides that adoption actions shall be confidential. <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.162 constitutes a recognition of the need for privacy in adoptions and provides a reasonable method of protecting a person's constitutional "right of privacy."

Adoptions fall within a well-recognized exception to the general principle that no person has any rights to privacy in a judicial proceeding. This is why the instant case has a "new dimension" that takes it beyond the guidelines established for the closure of criminal proceedings. Those authorities are concerned only with balancing the right of the press to know against an individual's right to a fair trial. Our State's statutory recognition and perservation of a person's right to privacy in an adoption proceeding removes the instant case from that body of law.

There are still certain precious rights to privacy, albeit few, that a person may enjoy when involved in certain judicial proceedings. An adoption is such a proceeding. This is our State's way of encouraging

-7-

adoptions because adoptions promote the well-being of children. It is also our State's way of protecting innocent participants from being victimized by public scrutiny.

The media enjoys a broad freedom of access to information about adoptions under our statute. There is no proscription against the media publishing anything except matters contained in the court record. As evidenced in the instant case, the media has already published copious gobs of "news." The media has lost no freedom. Our legislature has said, however, there should be some limit; that the right to know is not absolute; and that this innocent child has a right to privacy, since preserving this right to privacy is necessary to protect her well-being.

The principles of statutory construction clothe <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.162(1) with the presumption of constitutionality. The closure of adoption trials is absolutely necessary to protect a persons' right to privacy. Making adoption trials public would render the balance of <u>Fla.</u> <u>Stat.</u> 63.162 meaningless. It would do no good to attempt to make the court records confidential if the public could attend the trial.

-8-

Thus, the statute is constitutional because the rights of media to know (and the related rights of the grandparents to speak) have only been minimally abridged to the extent necessary to protect the bests interests of the child. This, after all, is the whole purpose of an adoption proceeding. THE LEGISLATIVE MANDATE OF CONFIDENTIALITY IN ADOPTION PROCEEDINGS CONTAINED IN SECTION 63.162(1), FLORIDA STATUTES, DOES NOT VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT OF FREE SPEECH.

#### A. The Purpose Of Adoption Proceedings

In <u>Ramey v. Thomas</u>, 382 So.2d 78, 80 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), the Honorable Judge Sharp noted that:

[t]his case is a classic example of parties warring over a child to such an extent that the primary issue--the welfare and best interest of the child--got lost in the gunsmoke.

The war has escalated. Now there are more guns, the amount of smoke has increased and this child's interests are becoming more obscured.

The instant case involves the analysis and application of freedoms we all hold dear. This situation presents us with a complicated interplay of the rights of a free press, the rights to a fair trial, and the rights of privacy. Before rushing headlong into a discussion of these cherished ideals, it seems appropriate to attempt to emphasize that <u>this is an adoption case</u>. As such, the central focus of this entire proceeding is to determine and adjudicate the best interests of this child. <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.022. The welfare of this child is the paramount concern

-10-

of the entire case. <u>Pugh v. Barwick</u>, 56 So.2d 124 (Fla. 1952). Thus, the smoke should be blown away and be prevented from returning until a clear picture of how to serve this child's best interests emerges.

By enacting the Florida Adoption Act (Chapter 63), our legislature has stated that adoption is a good thing under appropriate circumstances. The express purpose of Florida's Adoption Act is "...to provide to all children who can benefit by...[adoption]... a permanent family life." <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.022(1). Thus, the focus of the entire action is always directed to the interests of the child.

The very nature of an adoption demands that the child's interests are to be paramount. The legal effect of an adoption is to terminate all relationships between the adopted person and his biological relatives to the extent "...that the adopted person is thereafter... a stranger to his former relatives for all purposes." Fla. Stat. \$63.172(b). In essence, then, our legislature has stated that in an adoption proceeding the interests of the child are so important that the law will create a new family for the child and terminate the relationship of the natural mother, natural father and all other biological relationships, if so doing would serve the child's best

-11-

interests. Clearly then, the interests of the child are our first concern.

#### B. A New Dimension

Since the purpose of this litigation is to determine the child's best interests, all aspects of the instant review must be viewed with an eye toward the goal of promoting her well-being. In this context, it is interesting to note that the requirement to give HYT's interest our paramount concern takes us beyond the general guidelines established for the closure of court proceedings. Those guidelines attempt only to balance the right of a free press (lst AMEND. U.S. CONST. and §4, ART. I FLA. CONST.) with the right to a fair trial (6th AMEND. U.S. CONST. and §16 ART. I FLA. CONST.).

The cases establishing these guidelines begin with the premise that the right of a free press is not an absolute right. <u>Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court</u>, 547 U.S. 596 (1982). The inherent power of the courts to regulate their own proceedings to insure a fair trial provides the basis for the courts to restrict media access to judicial proceedings. <u>State Ex Rail Gore Newspaper Co.</u> <u>v. Tyson</u>, 313 So.2d 777 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975). Thus, the courts have developed "balancing tests" in an effort to

-12-

resolve the conflicts that can arise between certain constitutional rights, to-wit: the rights of a free press and the rights to a fair trial.

As the instant case appears to be a case of first impression, there is no prior decision dealing directly with the constitutionality of the adoption statute <u>sub judice</u>. Indeed, most of the prior decisions in the closure area discuss the balancing of these constitutional rights in the context of a criminal proceeding. The public, of course, has an interest in seeing criminal codes being enforced in a way that is fundamentally fair. Subjecting criminal trials to public scrutiny helps insure against the miscarriage of justice. <u>Sheppard</u> v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333 (1966).

The very nature of a civil adoption proceeding, however, reveals that an adoption is not analagous to a criminal proceeding when attempting to balance the constitutional rights of a free press against rights to a fair trial. The reason is that an adoption, upon completion, employs the legal fiction that there never was a relationship between the adoptee and the adoptee's biological relatives. Since the law "pretends" that the biological relatives of the adoptee are strangers, it also

-13-

seeks to keep the identity of these relatives confidential. <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.022(j) and 63.162. There is no analagous consideration in a criminal proceeding.

Since statutory enactment has declared adoption proceedings to be confidential, our public policy is that these matters are <u>private</u>. This so-called "right to privacy" is constitutionally grounded in the right to life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness. <u>Cason v. Baskin</u>, 20 So.2d 243 (Fla. 1944). It is the statutory acknowledgement (<u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.162) of this child's constitutionally grounded right to privacy that adds a dimension to the instant case that sets it apart from our more accustomed closure case.

#### C. There Are Rights To Privacy In A Judicial Proceeding

It seems that the crucial issue of the instant review is whether or not a person involved in a judicial proceeding has any rights of privacy. Generally, there is no right of privacy in a judicial proceeding; however, this general principal is limited and exceptions are made in actions relating to "...marriage, procreation, contraception, family relationships, and child rearing and education." <u>See</u>, <u>Petition of Post-Newsweek Stations</u>, Florida, Inc., 370 So.2d 764, 779 (Fla. 1979). An adoption

-14-

is such a proceeding.

Further, it is established that the "...protection of a person's general right to privacy is left largely to the states." <u>See</u>, <u>Shevin v. Sunbeam Television Corp.</u>, 351 So.2d 723, 727 (Fla. 1977). <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §§63.022 and 63.162 constitute our legislature's acknowledgement and protection of a person's right to privacy in an adoption proceeding.

Thus, in the instant case, this child has rights to privacy for two reasons:

 the adoption action falls within those kinds of cases that constitute exceptions to the general rule that there are no rights to privacy in a judicial proceeding.

and 2. our legislature has declared that the best interests of the child are promoted by adoptions being private.

The prefatory language of <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.162(1) provides as follows:

Notwithstanding <u>any</u> other law concerning public hearings and records: [Emphasis added.]

The prefatory language was apparently lifted verbatim from the Uniform Adoption Act which provides, in §16, as follows:

-15-

Notwithstanding any other law concerning public hearings and records:

<u>9 Uniform Laws Annotated</u>, Uniform Adoption Act, §16, page 48.

In the commissioner's note to §16 of the Uniform Adoption Act we find the following reason for the use of this prefatory language:

> The opening phrase is designed to negate the impact of any "right to know" law or other statute making public records open to inspection as a matter of right by newspapers and other persons. It continues the policy of existing adoption acts making the proceedings confidential in nature. Id.

Generally, hearings in adoption are confidential and held in closed court. 2 <u>Am. Jur.</u> 2d, Adoption §58, page 908. Florida's Adoption Act and the Uniform Adoption Act embody the principle that adoption proceedings are private. Additionally, it is significant to note that when the Arkansas bar recently amended its Judicial Canons to allow the media to broadcast judicial proceedings, it did not allow the broadcast of adoption proceedings. The court reasoned as follows:

... these trials involve subjects that normally would be of no concern

-16-

to the public and the broadcasting of which might result in harm to innocent people. Our primary concern in such cases is for the litigants, who are quite often before the Court contrary to their wishes. The parties, their relatives and friends are present because the law requires it. Children who are not even present may be affected by these proceedings and can be harmed or hurt by the publicity.

RE: Petition of Arkansas Bar, 609 S.W.2d 28, (Ark. 1980) Thus, Florida is not unique in seeking to provide confidentiality in adoption proceedings.

D. The Presumption Of Constitutionality

In analyzing <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.162(1), the instant Court is to favor the statute with a presumption of constitutionality. <u>In Re Estate Of Caldwell</u>, 247 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1971). This is because statutes are presumptively valid and constitutional. <u>Peninsular Industrial Ins. Co.</u> <u>v. State</u>, 55 S. 398 (Fla. 1911). If a constitutional interpretation of a statute is available, it must be adopted. <u>Miami Dolphins v. Metro Dade County</u>, 394 So.2d 981 (Fla. 1981). Any doubts as to the validity of a statute must be resolved in favor of its constitutionality. Hamilton v. State, 366 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1979).

Given these parameters of constitutional construction, it appears <a href="#">Fla. Stat.\$63.162(1)</a> is in fact

-17-

constitutional and valid. First of all, the State has a legitimate interest in providing for adoptions. The nature of the adoption proceedings and the legal effect of adoption itself necessitates privacy. The protection of rights of privacy being left to the states, it is proper exercise of legislative authority to provide that adoption proceedings be confidential.

It is important to note that should <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §63.162(1) be striken as being unconstitutional, such a holding would render the entire statute meaningless. That is, if the media can attend adoption hearings, then it is not possible to protect the identity of the natural parents and provide the other shields of confidentiality contained in the balance of the statute. In <u>Marston v.</u> <u>Gainesville Sun Pub Co., Inc.,</u> 341 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), the court was faced with a similar situation involving a statute regulating the confidentiality of a student's records. In Marston, the court reasoned that:

> [a]s in the case of proceedings for adoption, the beneficial policy promoted by the legislature in...[the statute providing for confidentiality of student records] ...would be entirely subverted if the curious public, denied access to the record of the Honor Court's consideration...should nevertheless

> > -18-

have entry as of right to the meeting whose only purpose is formulation of that record. To put it another way, there is no benefit to the student of confidentiality in the documentary evidence and report of his infaction if the public may demand admittance to the meeting where that evidence is exhibited and the substance of that report discussed; and there is little purpose in preserving from public view a memorandum or transcript of a witness' testimony before the Honor Court if the public is there to hear the spoken word. Id. at 785.

Similarily, it is necessary to close adoption hearings to the public, via <u>Fla. Stat.</u> \$63.162(1), in order to provide the confidentiality the legislature intended.

# E. The Media And Grandparents Have Lost No Freedoms

This Honorable Court is urged not to be sidetracked by the assertions of the Respondents that since the press has already printed stories about this case that there is no longer any confidentiality or need for confidentiality. (A-7-9, 11-12) This innocent child has not waived her entitlement to confidentiality. "Waiver" is an intentional relinquishment of a known right. <u>Thomas N. Carlton Estate</u> <u>v. Keller</u>, 52 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1951). This child, of course, is a minor. She did not even have counsel when the bulk of

-19-

the newspaper articles were printed. Thus, she cannot conceivably be deemed to have waived any confidentiality. The News-Journal's assertion that since they've already reported on the case they should be allowed to attend and report the final adoption trial is nothing more than "bootstrapping."

Similarily, the grandparents contentions that there is no longer any confidentiality because the matter has already been reported should also be rejected. While it is true that the grandparents may release information not obtained from court records, it does not follow that their desire to talk to the media eliminates this child's rights of privacy. See, Jordan v. Pensacola News-Journal, Inc., 314 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975). To the extent that her grandparents have caused information to be published that was obtained from court records, this child may have a cause of action against them for violating her rights of privacy. Such a cause of action would be beyond the scope of the duties of the attorney-ad-litem; however, such considerations would be relevant in the final adoption proceeding since they indicate that the grandparents may have placed their interests above the child's in making

-20-

this matter public.

Additonally, it is appropriate to note that upholding the constitutionality of Fla. Stat. §63.162(1) will not prohibit publication of information relating to this adoption proceeding. That is, as pointed out in Jordan, above, the adoption statute "...contains no proscription...regarding publication of information not obtained from Court records...". Id. at 223. The Jordan court further points out that "...[h]ad the legislature intended to prohibit all publication of information relating to an adoption proceeding, the statute could have been couched in such terms." Id. at 223. Indeed, had the legislature intended to be more restrictive, the adoption statute (Fla. Stat. §63.162) could have patterned after Fla. Stat. §39.411 which provides for the confidentiality of dependency proceedings relating to juveniles as follows:

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