9-4-84 FILE SID J. WHITE JUL 25 1984 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_ **Chief Deputy Clerk** 

IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

.

CIVIL APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

> No. 65,515 Fifth District Court of Appeal No. 84-780

IN RE: THE MATTER OF THE ADOPTION OF: HYT., a minor,

DANIEL S. WALLACE, Attorney-Ad-Litem for HYT, a minor,

PETITIONERS,

۷.

THE HONORABLE C. McFERRIN SMITH, III, etc., et al.,

RESPONDENTS.

RESPONDENTS" BRIEF ALVA AND WANDA RAMEY

> F. DAUN FOWLER Attorney for Alva and Wanda Ramey 841 South Ridgewood Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 Phone: (904) 252-8229

###

#### ARGUMENT

#### THE LEGISLATIVE MANDATE OF CONFIDENTIALITY IN ADOPTION PROCEEDINGS CONTAINED IN SECTION 63.162 (1), FLORIDA STATUTES, DOES VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT OF FREE SPEECH.

Petitioner continues to emphasize that "this is an adoption case". This is a proceeding to determine custody of a minor child, either by guardianship or by adoption. This is a proceeding to determine whether there should be an adoption at all and, if there should be, who should be the adoptive parents. This is a proceeding to determine whether the present guardian, Peter Thomas, should be removed as guardian by reason of fraud and wrongdoing, and whether the Rameys should be the guardians of the minor child as recommended by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services in the course of an earlier adoption proceeding involving the same minor child.

A jury trial has been demanded in this consolidated cause and the motion was granted by the Hon. John Upchurch on October 19, 1982 (R.118, 119) but that order was over-ruled by the Hon. C. McFERRIN SMITH, III on May 29, 1984 at the same time his earlier order regarding confidentiality was overruled. (R.386-387) That issue is on petition for writ of mandamus to the Fifth D.C.A.

The issues intertwined in this consolidated cause are not so clear-cut and simple as Petitioner describes.

If the Appellate court grants the Rameys' petition for writ of mandamus and mandates a trial by jury of all the issues of fact herein, then the rule of confidentiality in F.S.63.162 must be necessarily broken to allow the jurors to hear the entire cause in order to determine the triable issues of fact. One constitutional right will collide with a statutory right; the right to trial by jury vs. the right to privacy. These factors should not be disregarded in the determination of this petition. The arguments in support of trial by jury are in the record. (R.103-105, Vol. 1; R.217-223, Vol.2; R. 280-313, Vol.2)

The brief of the intervenor, the attorney general, submitted by Mark Menser, Assistant Attorney General, takes a different approach to the challenged statute and attacks the trial court's method of assessment of the statute's constitutionality.

-3-

The record shows that May 29, 1984 was not the first time the trial court had been confronted with this issue. On February 13, 1984, attorney-ad-litem for the minor child had moved for an order directing that all adoption documents and proceedings remain confidential. (R-266). Respondents Alva and Wanda Ramey filed a response to that motion. (R-273-276). They challenged the statute's constitutionality then (on February 23, 1984), citing <u>U.S. ex rel Latimore v. Sielff</u>, 561 F.2d.691, in which the high court stated:

The propriety of the trial court's action in excluding spectators during trial depends on the circumstances of each case.

Fla. Stat. 63.162(1) makes no provision for exceptions to closed proceedings. This consolidated case is more than an adoption proceeding. It is also a guardianship action with a determination of fraud and other wrongful acts as cause for removal.

Fla. Stat. 63.162(1) is unconstitutional, as applied to this particular case and these particular circumstances, but it also unconstitutionally closes the door to any other similar cases.

The trial court did approach this issue with the presumption of the statute's validity. In fact he earlier ruled that the proceedings would be closed. That was not a neutral position.

However, on May 29, 1984, he reassessed the statute and the supporting facts and those facts, applied to this case, did not justify the statute standing alone. Had it contained a provision for exceptions such as that found in another section of the same statute, (63.162(4)(d), the outcome would have been different. The trial court was faced with the dilemma of two important rights pitted against each other, one constitutional right, one statutory, with no guidelines for a resolution of

-4-

the matter provided by the Legislature. He removed the weaker contender-the statutory right to privacy-by reason of its infirmity.

Justice Sundberg, speaking for the entire Supreme Court of Florida, in <u>Petition of Post-Newsweek Stations, Fla. Inc. For Change in</u> Code of Judicial Conduct, 370 So. 2d. 764 (Fla. 1979) stated:

> First, a judicial proceeding, subject to certain limited exceptions, is a public event which by its very nature denies certain aspects of privacy. Second, and more compelling, there is no constitutionally recognized right of privacy in the context of a legal proceeding.

The court went on to further state:

Furthermore, there is no express guarantee of a right of privacy contained in the Constitution of Florida, nor has any such constitutionally guaranteed right yet been found to exist through implication. Laird v. State. Consequently, objections to amendment of Canon 3A(7) predicated upon violation of participant's privacy rights are unavailing.

The scope of privacy interests protected by the United States Constitution has been narrowly circumscribed by recent decisions of the United States Supreme Court to include only matters relating to marriage, procreation, contraception, family relationships, and child rearing and education

In <u>Eisenstadt v. Baird</u>, 405 U.S. 438, at 453, the United States Supreme Court stated:

> If the right of privacy means anything, it is the right of the individual, married or single, to be free from unwarranted governmental intrusion into matters so fundamentally affecting a person as the decision whether to bear or beget a child.

The "intrusion" into privacy rights has been intrusion by government, not by the public or by the press, in the high court's decisions. In <u>Roe v.</u> Wade, 410 U.S. 113, Mr. Justice Blackman declared:

> These decisions make it clear that only personal rights that can be deemed "fundamental' or' implicit in the concept of ordered liberty', Palko v. Connecticut, 302 U.S. 319, 325, 58 S.Ct. 149, 82 L.Ed. 288 (1937), are included in this guarantee of personal privacy. They also make it clear that the right has some extension to activities relating to marriage [citation omitted]; procreation] [citation omitted]; contraception [citation omitted];family relationships and child rearing and education [citation omitted]". 410 U.S.at 152, 153, 93 S.Ct. 726. (Emphasis added.)

This statement of the scope of the constitutional right to privacy remains the definitive statement of the law in this area, <u>Laird v. State</u>, 342 So. 2d. 962, 964.

Justice Sundberg, speaking for the majority of the Florida Supreme Court in Laird, supra, at page 965, stated:

Thus, as indicated at pp. 963, 964, Justice Blackman's articulation in Roe v. Wade, of the limited scope of the right to privacy remains the current state of the law.

The intimacies of the marital relationship, procreation, contraception and other family matters are free from <u>governmental</u> intrusion as matters of privacy.

Fla. Stat. 63.162 (1) does not concern a <u>constitutional right</u> to privacy as stated by Petitioner. It involves merely a <u>statutory right</u> of confidentiality.

> What is called for is an articulated standard for the exercise of the presiding judge's discretion in determining whether it appropriate to prohibit electronic media coverage of a particular participant. Petition of Post-Newsweek

#### Stations, Florida, supra at pg.778-779.

The Court recognized that electronic media coverage of certain child custody proceedings could have a devastating impact on the welfare of the child participant.

> However, we deem it impudent to compile a laundry list or adopt an absolute rule to deal with these occurrences. Instead, the matter should be left to the sound discretion of the presiding judge to be exercised in accordance with the following standard: The presiding judge may exclude electronic media coverage of a particular participant only upon a finding that such coverage will have a substantial effect upon the particular individual which would be qualitatively different from the effect on members of the public in general and such effect will be qualitatively different from coverage by other types of media. Post-Newsweek, at Pg. 779.

Fla. Stat. 63.162(1) does adopt an absolute rule and does not leave the matter to the sound discretion of the trial judge. Therefore, it violates the constitutional right of free speech by excluding both public and press from all adoption proceedings.

Trial courts, in appropriate proceedings in which organic rights are shown to be violated, may adjudicate that, in the process of its enactment or in its provisions or intendments or in its operation or effect, a legislative act conflicts with an expressed or fairly implied limitation of either the State or Federal Constitution and that as a consequence the enactment is inoperative either in whole or in part as applied to a particular case. 6 Fla. Jur., Constitutional Law, §45. The Court has an affirmative duty to support, protect and defend the Constitution even if a statute is held to be inoperative as a result.

-7-

The trial court found Fla. Stat. 63.162(1) "unconstitutional on its face as its applied to this fact situation". (R-360,I. 6 & 7). A statute may be declared unconstitutional by reason of its operation as well as its terms, and although a law may on its face be constitutional, its operation in a given case may render it unconstitutional. The rule is clearly established that it is the practical operation and effect, rather than the mere form of a statute which is the criterion by which to judge the constitutionality of an act. <u>Sparkman v. State ex rel Scott</u>, 58 So. 2d.431 (Fla. S. Ct. 1952)

The trial court herein apparently used that criterion and found the act unconstitutional.

In <u>Snedeker v. Vermar, Ltd.</u>, 151 So.2d.439 (1963) the Supreme Court of Florida affirmed the unconstitutionality of a statute, which regulated masseurs, for failure to reasonably relate to public safety or welfare as applied to certain operators. The challenged statute herein, which regulates all adoption proceedings, does not reasonably relate to the privacy interests of the adoptee, and or the contending and adoptive parents in the instant consolidated causes.

> The decision in sum is that the definition of applicability contained in Sec. 480.01(1)(a) is stated in terms not susceptible of lawful limitation and is therefore void and unenforceable. Snedeker v. Vernmar, Ltd. supra.

Unconstitutional is unconstitutional no matter whether you approach it from behind or from in front.

Although the attorney for the News Journal advanced a theory which apparently corresponds to the Respondent State's "mootness" theory, there is no indication in the trial court's May 29th order, or in the transcript of the proceedings on May 29th, that the trial court based its

-8-

decision in regard to the statute's constitutionality on the prior publicity in the case as expounded by the State. That theory, however, does emphasize the fact that this is no ordinary adoption case such as the legislature probably had in mind when Fla. Stat. 63, 162 (1) was enacted.

The State recognizes "exceptions" in regard to public access to courtrooms and admits that "the extent of cloture may vary" and "may be achieved by different legal procedures" and that "there is no right of public access to <u>every</u> courtroom proceeding". The other side of that coin is that there is no right to closure, of every case, including adoptions.

The State's reliance on <u>State ex rel. Gore Newspapers v. Tyson</u>, 313 So. 2d. 777 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975) is misplaced because the appellate court therein held that the trial court's exclusion of the public and the press constituted an act in excess of its power where parties to a dissolution action presented no reasons cogent or otherwise for requesting that their proceedings be conducted behind closed doors. The court went on to say that, even though litigants may prefer to have their dissolution action conducted in private away from prying eyes of the public and the glare of the media, these desires cannot serve as a predicate upon which to exclude the public and press completely. This cited case stands for the principle that the public and the press have a fundamental right of access to all judicial proceedings, contrary to the State's theory to the contrary.

<u>Saviano v. Luciano</u>, 92 So. 2d. 817 (Fla. S. Ct. 1957) cited in the State's brief as support for exclusion of public and press, holds that justification for all confidential and privileged communications lies not in the fact of communication but in the interest of the persons concerned that the subject matter should not become public. When a party himself ceases

-9-

to treat a matter as confidential, it loses its confidential character. So much for the State's "mootness" theory!

Adoption is a statutory proceeding which ordinarily creates "the legal fiction of familial membership". Familial membership already exists in the instant cause. No creation of such is necessary, only a shifting of already established relationships perhaps. No secrecy has existed or needs to exist in regard to the identity of the parties.

For ten years this cause has been shuttled back and forth between the various levels of the judicial system in Volusia County and the State of Florida. Those numerous proceedings have been secret proceedings without the presence of the press or the public.

History past and present has poignantly demonstrated the destructive effect of secrecy on our society-sowing seeds of suspicion and distrust between government and the governed. It would seem somewhat paradoxical for the institution which has fostered a recognition of government in the sunshine and whose pronouncements are concerned with the administration of justice to take a backward step by enshrouding its/own proceedings in secrecy solely to accommodate litigants. (State ex rel Gore Newspaper Co. v. Tyson, supra at 313 So.2d.787.

However, in spite of the past exclusion of both public and press in the cause now before this court, the press obtained the facts and published those facts. Undoubtedly the same situation will occur again if the press is again shut out of the courtroom. The purported purpose of the legislation of Fla. Stat. 63.162(1) will be circumvented. The First Amendment challengers will take the long way around and perhaps be unable to note what actually happens during the proceedings and why it happens. They will rely on hearsay. The public will know the result but

-10-

not as the consequence of objective reporting. The child's best interests may well suffer in the long run.

This cause also involves grandparents' rights in the State of Florida. That is an uncharted area of law with only skeletal statutory provisions along the way. There are thousands of senior citizens in Florida, probably more than in any other state of the United States, who are grandparents and may someday face a situation such as the one which brought the cause herein to this court. That reflects a great public concern and a great public interest in the procedures as well as in the outcome of this particular case.

Those other grandparents have a right to know what to expect from their legal system and a right to know how such decisions are made. They may have no access to law books which report such decisions. They may not be able to afford the services of an attorney in order to obtain such information. But most of them can and do read newspapers and depend upon them as inexpensive and timely sources of information about their world.

That they have a constitutional right to know is undisputed.

In <u>Cason v. Baskin</u>, 20 So.2d.243, 251 (cited by both Petitioner and the State), the Supreme Court of Florida stated:

But the right of privacy has its limitations. Society also has its rights. The right of the general public to the dissemination of news and information must be protected and conserved. Freedom of speech and of the press must be protected. Section 13 of our Declaration of Rights reads in part as follows:

Every person may fully speak and write his sentiments on all subjects being responsible for the abuse of that right, and no laws shall be passed to restrain or abridge the liberty of speech, or of the press. (Now, Section 4)

2

One such law was passed: Fla. Stat. 63.162(1).

In Firstamenica Development Corporation v. Daytona Beach News

Journal, 196 So. 2d. 97,99 (cited by the State) this very Court stated:

Freedom of the press is a people's personal right rather than a property right of publishers of newspapers.

The Court prefaced that statement:

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